# **FILED**

Jan 27, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COA NO. 32555-5-III

(206) 623-2373

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE
IN RE DETENTION OF RONALD LOVE:
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent, .
v.
RONALD LOVE,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR FRANKLIN COUNTY  The Honorable Robert G. Swisher, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT
CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for appellan NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLO
1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122

##

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments Of Error

- 1. Whether the evidence was insufficient to commit appellant as a sexually violent predator under the law of the case doctrine, where the "to commit" instruction required the jury to find a mental abnormality or personality disorder made him likely to reoffend, but the State's expert witness opined only the combination of mental abnormality and personality disorder made him likely to reoffend?
- 2. Whether the "to commit" instruction violated appellant's right to due process because it allowed the jury to base its verdict on speculation, lessened the State's burden of proof, and was unwarranted by substantial evidence?
- 3. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in not objecting to the flawed "to commit" instruction?

- 4. Whether the court committed reversible error in admitting the former testimony of a witness under ER 804(b)(1) because the State failed to establish the witness's unavailability?
- 5. Whether the court committed reversible error in failing to exclude expert testimony on the SRA-FV because the State did not show the evidence being offered was based on an established methodology generally accepted in the scientific community under the <u>Frye</u> standard?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural Facts

In 2001, the State filed a petition seeking Ronald Love's civil commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 526-53. In 2005, a judge found Love to be a sexually violent predator (SVP) following a bench trial and ordered his indefinite commitment. CP 804. Love has been confined to the Special Commitment Center (SCC) since then. 1RP<sup>2</sup> 866.

In 2013, Love showed probable cause that he had a permanent physiological change making him unable to commit a sexually violent act and had changed through a positive response to continuing participation in treatment. CP 804-07. The court ordered an unconditional release trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 11 consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 5/13/14, 5/14/14, 5/15/14, 5/16/14, 5/19/14, 5/20/14, 5/21/14, 5/22/14, 5/23/14, 5/27/14, 5/28/14, 5/29/14, 5/30/14, 6/2/14; 2RP - 7/29/14.

CP 807. After the presentation of evidence at trial, a jury found Love continued to be an SVP. CP 8. The court ordered Love's continued commitment. CP 7. Love appeals. CP 6.

#### 2. Release Trial Evidence

Love was 57 years old at the time of trial. 1RP 944. Dr. Phenix, the State's expert witness, relied on past events in forming her opinion that Love continued to meet the SVP definition. 1RP 878-91. California juvenile records reflected an attempt in 1973 to force a six-year-old boy to perform fellatio and, in 1975, sodomy of a juvenile male and attempt to rape a juvenile female.<sup>3</sup> 1RP 878-79, 1008-10. Records also addressed a 1978 incident during which Love and two others attempted to abduct a 16year-old female and threatened to rape her if she did not go with them.4 1RP 880, 1011-12.

Love pled guilty in California to two counts of forcible rape involving two women that took place on the same night in 1978.<sup>5</sup> 1RP 880-86, 1503-05. The former testimony of one of these women, A.P., was admitted into evidence over defense objection. CP 32-48; 1RP 1023-27,

Love denied committing these offenses. 1RP 1488, 1897.
 The charges associated with this incident were dismissed. 1RP 1013-14. Love denied the allegation. 1RP 1496-97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Love denied raping either woman. 1RP 1410-13, 1599, 1895.

1199-1201. Love also entered an Alford<sup>6</sup> plea to attempted first degree rape, which involved an assaultive encounter with a man in 1992.7 1RP 784, 792-95, 888-90, 1534.

Love did not admit to committing any sex offenses. 1RP 1016. Love has not participated in formal sex offense treatment at the SCC, except for a brief period of marginal participation. 1RP 950.

Dr. Phenix, a psychologist and expert in forensic psychology, diagnosed Love with other specified paraphilic disorder - nonconsent, alcohol use disorder and antisocial personality disorder. 1RP 858, 869, 894, 897, 902, 907-08. Phenix believed Love's mental condition made him likely to reoffend. 1RP 913, 960. When asked if Love would be dangerous if released, Phenix answered there was "a very strong contribution of his antisocial personality disorder combined with his sexual deviance to resulting five separate sexual offenses involving child victims, teenagers, adults, males and females, with a very wide victim pool." 1RP 960-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162

<sup>(1970).</sup>The Love testified that he was coerced into entering the guilty plea. 1RP 811, 818, 818-19. He denied committing the offense and described reacting to the man's sexual advances by hitting him. 1RP 830-31, 1425-26, 1433-34. 1437, 1467.

Phenix testified "there's a way that these three mental disorders work together to -- to cause him to be a danger in the future to commit criminal sexual acts, and that is that he has this abnormal sexual arousal. He's drawn to do that. That is disinhibited by his alcohol dependence and alcohol intake in the community so he's more likely to act out that sexual deviance. And that his antisocial personality disorder doesn't allow him to have the stops a normal person would have. It allows him to violate the rights of others so in that way it contributes to his sexual offending." 1RP 913. Love's alcohol dependence was not enough to qualify Love as an SVP. 1RP 988. Likewise, Love's personality disorder was not enough to qualify him as an SVP. 1RP 988-99. It was the combination of the paraphilia, the alcohol dependence and the personality disorder that contributed to Love's criminal sexual behavior. 1RP 990.

Dr. Phenix evaluated risk of reoffense using two actuarial instruments, the Static-99 Revised (Static-99R) and the Static-2002 Revised (Static-2002R), as well as the Structured Risk Assessment - Forensic Version (SRA-FV). 1RP 918, 937. The Static-99R and the Static-2002R instruments addressed static risk factors. 1RP 914, 918, 934-35. Phenix described the SRA-FV as a structured method of assessing dynamic (changeable) risk factors. 1RP 934-37.

Love's score on the Static-99R and Static-2002R placed him within the high risk range compared to other sex offenders in the study sample. 1RP 918, 925, 927. The group of offenders in the sample with the same score as Love had a 45 percent risk of reoffense in five years and 55.3 percent risk of reoffense in 10 years. 1RP 926. This does not mean Love is 55 percent likely to reoffend because actuarial instruments do not predict whether a particular person will or will not reoffend. 1RP 918, 926. Love's risk could be somewhere above or below those percentage figures. 1RP 926.8 The Static-2002R probabilities were very similar. 1RP 927-28.

For the SRA-FV, individuals receive a score based on the presence of dynamic risk factors, which is associated with low, moderate or high risk groups in the Static-99R. 1RP 935-36, 939-40. Love's score on the SRA-FV placed him in the high risk group. 1RP 940.

Dr. Halon, a licensed psychologist testifying for the defense,<sup>9</sup> disagreed with Phenix's assessment and opined Love did not suffer from a mental abnormality or personality disorder. 1RP 1655-58, 1664, 1680, 1725, 1852. According to Halon, there was no way to make a valid diagnosis of mental abnormality because Love showed no signs of sexual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Risk of reoffense lowers with increased age, which is a factor incorporated into the actuarial instruments. 1RP 920, 944.

deviance or serious difficulty controlling himself while in prison (since 1991) and the SCC (since 2001). 1RP 1655-58, 1664. If Love had a mental abnormality, he would not be able to hide it for so long. 1RP 1664. Love did not have a current paraphilia based on the evidence. 1RP 1725. The SCC records did not indicate Love had any sexuality left in him. 1RP 1658. The personality disorder Love had when he was growing up was now in remission because there were no longer any sign of it. 1RP 1680, 1852.

Phenix scored Love as a 31 on the Hare Psychopathy Checklist, Revised, where a cut-off score of 30 and above indicates the presence of psychopathy. 1RP 928, 932-33. But Halon opined that Love no longer showed signs of being a psychopath. 1RP 1779.

Dr. Donaldson, a clinical psychologist specializing in forensic psychology, also testified on Love's behalf. 1RP 1213. According to Donaldson, there are no models in psychology capable of accurately predicting individual behavior. 1RP 1225, 1271, 1292. The Static-99 instruments badly overestimate risk of reoffense because the base rate (how many sex offenders recidivate after release) is flawed. 1RP 1236-37. The Static-99R, the best instrument available, contained a serious error in the evaluator's handbook table relating to risk for the high risk group. 1RP

1239-42, 1271. Donaldson further opined the SRA-FV should not be used because it is a flawed predictive tool. 1RP 1243-56.

Dr. Sziebert, an SCC physician, testified that Love has high blood pressure, high cholesterol, thyroid disease, hepatitis C, and a painful condition of the spine and neck. 1RP 1369-72. The spine/neck problem affects range of motion. 1RP 1372-73, 1377. Love has difficulty rotating his trunk and making quick movements. 1RP 1377. Love receives medication for the condition. 1RP 1373. The condition is degenerative, chronic and incurable. 1RP 1374. It was only going to get worse. 1RP 1378. In Phenix's opinion, Love's health problems did not substantially lower his risk of reoffense. 1RP 945.

Love is very involved in the Native American circle and its healing practices at the SCC. 1RP 1311-12, 1344, 1347-51, 1387, 1389. Love considered his participation in Native American practices to be a form of treatment. 1RP 1090. Multiple witnesses testified based on personal observation that Love had shown positive change over the years in his disposition and interaction with others, including not involving himself with those engaged in negative behavior. 1RP 1078-81, 1086, 1308-09, 1315-16, 1400. The SCC chaplain had never seen Love explode or lash out, even in negative situations. 1RP 1401-02. Love expressed grief and regret about past offenses against others. 1RP 1080-81, 1334, 1407.

According to Dr. Phenix, Love's participation in Native American spiritual activities could not substitute for intensive sex offender treatment. 1RP 951-54. Phenix opined Love had not changed in any significant way that reduced his risk of reoffense. 1RP 963.

According to Dr. Halon, the Native American healing program is a legitimate form of treatment, different than the formal sex offender treatment offered at the SCC. 1RP 1691-93, 1719-23, 1789. Love had changed as a result of his participation in the Native American healing program. 1RP 1789.

Love would be on two years of Department of Corrections supervision upon release. 1RP 957, 1197. Love knew that he would receive a life sentence if he were convicted of another serious violent offense or sex offense. 1RP 1602.

If released, Love planned to live at a Spokane apartment complex that accepted sex offenders. 1RP 1600. Love had family support in the community. 1RP 955, 1563-66, 1576, 1581. He had contacted the Choctaw tribe for support and believed he would receive it. 1RP 1600-01. Love planned to continue Native healing if released. 1RP 955, 1604. Lee and Mix, two of the Native American elders involved in the native healing practices at SCC, would support him in terms of getting Native services. 1RP 1298, 1334, 1339-40, 1351-52.

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. THE VERDICT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE UNDER THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE.

Under "the law of the case" doctrine, what facts need to be proven depends on how the jury is instructed. The jury was instructed that it must find beyond a reasonable doubt that Love suffers from a "mental abnormality or personality disorder" that makes him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility. CP 16. Use of the disjunctive "or" in this instruction, instead of the conjunctive "and," requires reversal of the verdict. The State's expert testified that the combination of Love's mental abnormality and personality disorder made him likely to reoffend, not that one or the other standing alone made him likely to reoffend. The evidence is therefore insufficient to sustain Love's commitment under the jury instructions, in violation of due process. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 3.

a. The State must prove mental illness and the likelihood of reoffense due to such illness.

Chapter 71.09 RCW authorizes the commitment of those found to meet the SVP definition. RCW 71.09.060(1). An SVP is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which

makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18).

A person committed as an SVP has the right to an unconditional release trial if there is probable cause to believe he no longer meets the SVP definition. RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). At the unconditional release trial, "the burden of proof shall be upon the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the committed person's condition remains such that the person continues to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator." RCW 71.09.090(3)(c).

A person shall not be deprived of liberty without due process of law. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 3. A person must be both mentally ill and dangerous for a civil commitment to be permissible under the due process clause of the constitution. In re Pers. Restraint of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 27, 857 P.2d 989, 1001 (1993) (citing Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979); Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992)). By properly finding all the statutory elements are satisfied to commit someone as an SVP, the fact finder impliedly finds that the SVP is currently dangerous. In re Detention of Moore, 167 Wn.2d 113, 124, 216 P.3d 1015, 1021 (2009).

b. Because the "to commit" instruction required the jury to find in the disjunctive regarding which condition made Love likely to reoffend, the verdict is not supported by sufficient evidence under the law of the case doctrine.

"Although the commitment proceedings are civil in nature, given the standard of proof, the sufficiency of evidence is examined under the standard of beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>In re Detention of Audett</u>, 158 Wn.2d 712, 728 n.10, 147 P.3d 982 (2006). The commitment will be upheld only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Audett</u>, 158 Wn.2d at 727-28.

What those elements are depends on how the jury is instructed. Whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a verdict is measured by the jury instructions. "The law of the case is an established doctrine with roots reaching back to the earliest days of statehood." State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). This doctrine refers to the "rule that the instructions given to the jury by the trial court, if not objected to, shall be treated as the properly applicable law." Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County, 119 Wn.2d 91, 113, 829 P.2d 746 (1992) (quoting 15 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Judgments § 380, at 56 (4th ed. 1986)).

Where a party challenges the sufficiency of evidence on appeal, "[t]he sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict is to be determined by the application of the instructions." Tonkovich v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 31 Wn.2d 220, 225, 195 P.2d 638 (1948); accord Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 102 ("to convict" instruction was law of the case); see also United States v. Spletzer, 535 F.2d 950, 954 (5th Cir. 1976) (unnecessary specific intent requirement included in jury instructions became necessary element of conviction under the "law of the case"); United States v. Nacchio, 519 F.3d 1140, 1157 (10th Cir. 2008) ("when asking what facts the jury had to find in order to convict, we look to the elements of the crime as defined by law, except that if the government did not object to jury instructions containing additional requirements, it is required to prove those too."), vacated in part on other grounds, 555 F.3d 1234 (10th Cir. 2009) (en banc).

The court gave the following "to commit" instruction to the jury:

To establish that Ronald Love is a sexually violent predator, the State must prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That Ronald Love was previously found to be a sexually violent predator;
- (2) That Ronald Love continues to suffer from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior; and

(3) The mental abnormality or personality disorder continues to make Ronald Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict that Ronald Love continues to be a sexually violent predator.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any of one or more of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict that Ronald Love is no longer a sexually violent predator.

CP 16 (Instruction 5) (emphasis added). 10

"Mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are alternative means for making the SVP determination. <u>In re Detention of Halgren</u>, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). Each has its own particular statutory definition.<sup>11</sup> The jury was instructed on those definitions. CP 17, 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The State proposed this instruction, which is taken from Washington Pattern Instruction 365.34. CP 572. Love's counsel unsuccessfully objected to the wording of the second element of the instruction, arguing the word "continued" should be replaced with the word "current." 1RP 1816-19.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Mental abnormality" means "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8). "Personality disorder" means "an enduring pattern of inner experience and behavior that deviates markedly from the expectations of the individual's culture, is pervasive and inflexible, has onset in adolescence or early adulthood, is stable over time and leads to distress or impairment." RCW 71.09.020(9).

Use of the disjunctive "or" in the third element of the "to commit" instruction has legal consequences under the law of the case doctrine. "Or" signifies an alternative between two things. "And" signifies connection between two things; i.e. one thing added to another. Courts recognize the difference in meaning between the disjunctive "or" and the conjunctive "and" in jury instructions. See State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 101 n.6, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014) (conjunctive "and" rather than a disjunctive "or" in the "to convict" instruction became the law of the case in the absence of objection); State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 189-90, 607 P.2d 304 (1980) (where defendant was charged with one count of assault against two victims conjunctively, the jury instruction referencing the names of the victims in the disjunctive rather than conjunctive violated right to jury unanimity).

The "to commit" instruction, through use of the disjunctive, required the State to prove Love's mental abnormality continues to make Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility or that Love's personality disorder continues to make Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility. The problem is that Dr. Phenix, the State's expert, did not testify that Love's mental abnormality or personality disorder made Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to

a secure facility. Instead, Dr. Phenix testified the combination of the mental abnormality *and* personality disorder made Love likely to reoffend. 1RP 913, 960-61, 988-90. Dr. Phenix testified in the conjunctive. But the "to commit" instruction required the jury to find the disjunctive in order to satisfy the third element.

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