NO. 32555-5

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Ronald Love:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RONALD LOVE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MALCOLM ROSS Senior Counsel WSBA #22883 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Whether sufficient evidence supported the jury's verdict, where Love's mental abnormality and personality disorder were alternative means of proving he is mentally ill and each was supported by substantial evidence.
- B. Whether the trial court had tenable reasons for admitting the former testimony of Love's victim A.P.
- C. Whether the trial court correctly concluded that the SRA-FV dynamic risk assessment instrument meets the *Frye* test.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State adopts Love's Statement of the Case in his Brief of Appellant (Br. of App.) at 3-10, supplemented by additional facts presented in the arguments below.

III. ARGUMENT

A. There Was Sufficient Evidence To Prove Love Suffers From A Mental Abnormality Or Personality Disorder

Love argues there was insufficient evidence to prove he suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder. He believes the jury should have been instructed to find that he suffers from a mental abnormality "and a personality disorder," instead of "or a personality disorder." He further asserts that he can raise this issue for the first time on appeal because it is of constitutional magnitude. Love's argument fails because the jury was properly instructed on alternative means and there was substantial evidence supporting those means. Furthermore, even if

there was error, Love invited it, and it was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

1. Standard of Review

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence in a sexually violent predator (SVP) case, a reviewing court applies the criminal standard. In re Detention of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). "Under this approach, the evidence is sufficient if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. The court upholds the commitment if any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Detention of Audett, 158 Wn.2d 712, 727-28, 147 P.3d 982 (2006). All reasonable inferences from the evidence are drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the appellant. Id. at 727. Appellate courts defer to the trier of fact regarding a witness's credibility, conflicting testimony, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. In re Detention of Broten, 130 Wn. App. 326, 335, 122 P.3d 942 (2005).

2. Sufficient Evidence Supported the Alternative Means

Love asserts there was insufficient evidence to continue his civil commitment because the Court instructed the jury to determine whether he suffers from, and is likely to commit sexually violent offenses because of, a "mental abnormality or personality disorder." Br. of App. at 14-18 (citing CP 16 (Instruction 5)). Love does not dispute that there is sufficient evidence in the record to prove he suffers from both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. He argues, however, that "the 'to commit' instruction required the jury to find the disjunctive in order to satisfy the third element." Br. of App. at 17.

Love cites no direct SVP authority for this proposition and Washington Courts have reached the opposite conclusion: Where there is testimony that the SVP suffers from both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder, and where substantial evidence supports each, the two conditions "are alternative means for making the SVP determination." In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). Halgren found that, "[B]ecause both mental illnesses are predicates for the SVP determination, the two mental illnesses are closely connected." Id. Therefore, Halgren concluded, "[T]hese two means of establishing that a person is an SVP may operate independently or may work in conjunction." Id.

Consistent with *Halgren*, an argument similar to Love's was rejected by Division I in *In re Detention of Ticeson*, 159 Wn. App. 374, 246 P.2d 550 (2011). Ticeson, like Love, had been diagnosed with both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. *Id.* at 388. The State's

expert testified that Ticeson's personality disorder caused him to have difficulty controlling his behavior. *Id.* at 378. While Ticeson did not contest either of the diagnoses, he argued on appeal that there was insufficient evidence to show that his personality disorder, standing alone, made him likely to reoffend. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument. Citing *Halgren*, the Court noted that the State's expert had testified that Ticeson's personality disorder causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. Such testimony, this Court found, "is sufficient to allow a rational juror to find Ticeson's personality disorder makes him likely to reoffend." 159 Wn. App. at 389. As such, the Court found that there was substantial evidence to support either alternative means. *Id*.

Here, Love admits there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find either that he suffers from a mental abnormality or from a personality disorder. *See* Br. of App. at 22-24. Additionally, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that either condition causes Love difficulty controlling his behavior. The State's trial expert, Amy Phenix, Ph.D., explained how Love's mental abnormality impairs his volitional controls and causes him to have serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. 1RP 910-13. Regarding Love's personality disorder, Dr. Phenix testified:

[I]t was such an integral part of his life, all of his life, from such a very early age throughout his adulthood. In terms of what is expressed in Mr. Love today, he still has antiauthority attitudes. He feels very victimized and is not in touch with the hurt and harm he's perpetrated on other people. He feels it's unjust that he is subject to exceptional circumstances to keep the community safe.

He is so antisocial, in my opinion, that he can blame the victims who were so violated and traumatized in a blink. He completely externalizes responsibility, and, for example, accuses [A.P.] and [G.L.] of being prostitutes that he prostituted in the community, so those kind of attitudes that can allow you to re-victimize your victims are quite antisocial in nature.

1RP 907; see 1RP 1472 (rape victims A.P and G.L. were supposedly Love's "prostitutes"); 1RP 1432-37 (attempted rape victim D.L. supposedly sexually assaulted Love). Thus, she opined, Love's personality disorder "doesn't allow him to have the stops that a normal person would have" and it "allows him to violate the rights of others so in that way it contributes to his sexual offending." 1RP 913. Even Love's expert, Dr. Robert Halon, provided the jury with evidence to support a finding that Love's antisocial personality disorder made him sexually dangerous:

Most sex crimes are committed by just plain criminals. They just – they treat people like they treat everything else when they are criminals. Take what they want when they want it. Don't give a damn. They are first. *You know, a lot of antisocial people are like that.*

1RP 1662 (emphasis added).

Such testimony is sufficient under *Halgren* and *Ticeson* and provided substantial evidence for the jury to find that either or both conditions made Love likely to reoffend. *Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d at 810. Sufficient evidence supported the alternative means and there was no instructional error.

3. Any Error was Invited and was Not Manifest Constitutional Error

Assuming *arguendo* that Jury Instruction No. 5 was error, it was an error that Love invited the Court to make. Jury instruction No. 5 was consistent with Washington Pattern Instruction (WPI) 365.34, which includes "or" but not the option for the conjunctive "and" between "mental abnormality" and "personality disorder." The pattern instruction

¹ WPI 365.34 (SVP Unconditional Discharge Elements):

To establish that (name of respondent) is a sexually violent predator, the State must prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

⁽¹⁾ That respondent was previously found to be a sexually violent predator;

⁽²⁾ That respondent continues to suffer from a [mental abnormality] [or] [personality disorder] which causes [him] [her] serious difficulty controlling [his] [her] sexually violent behavior; and

⁽³⁾ The [mental abnormality] [or] [personality disorder] continues to make respondent likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict that respondent continues to be a sexually violent predator.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any of one or more of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict that the respondent is no longer a sexually violent predator.

and jury instruction No. 5 are also consistent with definition of "sexually violent predator" in RCW 71.09.020(18),² which also includes "or" and not "and" between the two terms.

When Love proposed a "to commit" instruction that changed "continues to suffer" to "currently suffers," his proposal also included the word "or" between the two alternative means:

Well, my suggestion is, Your Honor, is that we modify this instruction, that, "Ronald Love *currently* suffers from a *mental abnormality or personality* which causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior." That's what we're really here to make a determination on.

1RP 1817 (emphasis added).

Under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an error of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *In re Dependency of K.R.*, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). The record reflects that Love himself proposed the very language to which he now assigns error. This Court should decline to address his argument because Love invited any error in the instruction.

Love also should not be allowed to raise this argument on appeal because he does not identify a "manifest error affecting a constitutional

² RCW 71.09.020(18):

[&]quot;Sexually violent predator" means any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 7, 17 P.3d 591 (2001). Not all trial errors which implicate a constitutional right are reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3): "The exception actually is a narrow one, affording review only of 'certain constitutional questions." *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687-88, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (*Scott* II). Exceptions to RAP 2.5(a) must be construed narrowly. *WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 603, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). Love must first identify a constitutional error and then show how it actually affected his rights at trial. It is that showing that makes the error "manifest." *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Even if a court determines that a claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to harmless error analysis. *Id.* at 333.

Here, the instruction was consistent with the statute, the WPI, Halgren, and the evidence presented. Love cannot show that the instruction in any way affected the outcome of the trial. Therefore there was no error, and certainly not a manifest constitutional error.

Love argues that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the instruction. Br. of App. at 27. In fact, as the record demonstrates, Love's counsel actually proposed a "to commit" instruction that included the word "or" to which Love now objects. In any event, Love's counsel was not ineffective. To prove ineffective assistance Love must show that his counsel performed below an objective standard of reasonableness and he was prejudiced. *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 377, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). Courts reviewing such claims begin by assuming that counsel's assistance was effective, and the claimant bears the burden of showing otherwise. *Id.* Here, Love's counsel, like counsel for the State and the trial court, relied on the statutory language, the WPI, and *Halgren* and believed that the instruction's inclusion of the word "or" was correct. Love's counsel was not ineffective where such significant authority supported their decision.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Admitted The Former Testimony Of A.P.

Love argues that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the former testimony of Love's victim A.P.,³ pursuant to ER 804(b)(1). Br. of App. at 29. For the reasons argued below, this Court should conclude that, based on the totality of the facts of this case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding A.P. to be an unavailable witness under ER 804(a)(5), and admitting her former testimony. Alternatively, if there was error, it was harmless.

³ In 2005 A.P. testified under her maiden name and is identified elsewhere as "A.T." In 2014 the parties referred to her as "A.P.," her married name.

1. Standard of Review

The admission of testimony under ER 804(b)(1) is within the discretion of the trial court. *Acord v. Pettit*, 174 Wn. App. 95, 104, 302 P.3d 1265 *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1005, 308 P.3d 641 (2013). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons. *Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006).

2. Former Testimony as a Hearsay Exception Under ER 804(b)(1) and 804(a)(5)

ER 804(b)(1) provides that a witness's former testimony is an exception to the hearsay rule if the witness is unavailable.⁴ Pertinent to this case, a witness is unavailable under ER 804(a)(5) if she is absent from the trial and the State is unable to procure her attendance by "process or other reasonable means." "Process or other reasonable means" has been

⁴ ER 804(b)(1) provides:

⁽b) Hearsay Exceptions. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

⁽¹⁾ Former Testimony. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

⁵ ER 804(a)(5) provides:

⁽a) Definition of Unavailability. "Unavailability as a witness" includes situations in which the declarant:

interpreted as requiring that, where a witness's attendance cannot be obtained by subpoena, the party offering the testimony "should at least be required to represent to the court that it made an effort to secure the voluntary attendance of the witnesses at trial." *Rice v. Janovich*, 109 Wn.2d 48, 57, 742 P.2d 1230 (1987) (citing K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Prac., *Evidence* § 393, at 271 (2d ed. 1982)).

3. Love's Victim A.P. was "Unavailable" Under the Totality of the Facts of this Case

In 1978 Love was charged by a seven-count criminal complaint with rape, oral copulation, sodomy, and burglary for offenses against A.P. and G.L., all of which he committed on the evening of October 28, 1978. Ex. 1 (attached as App. 1). He pled guilty to two counts of forcible rape, one for each victim. Ex. 2 (attached as App. 2).

In 2005, A.P. travelled from Puerto Rico to testify at Love's first SVP bench trial in the Pasco, Washington courtroom of the Honorable Robert G. Swisher. 1RP 1024-27. A.P. testified about being raped by Love in 1978:

The court heard testimony from one of Mr. Love's victims who recalled in vivid detail his assault on her almost 30 years prior. Mr. Love was a stranger to this woman when

⁽⁵⁾ Is absent from the hearing and the proponent of the statement has been unable to procure the declarant's attendance (or in the case of a hearsay exception under subsection (b)(2), (3), or (4), the declarant's attendance or testimony) by process or other reasonable means.

he pushed his way into her California home in 1978; stripped her naked; orally, anally, and vaginally raped her; threatened to bash in her head; and spoke of kidnapping her before she escaped to a neighbor's home as Mr. Love followed, cursing her.

In re Detention of Love, 2007 WL 1087558, at *3.

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